STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT
Appeal from the Michigan Court of Appeals
Jansen, P.J., and Fort Hood and Riordan, JJ

MELISSA MAYS, MICHAEL ADAM MAYS,
JACQUELINE PEMBERTON, KEITH JOHN
PEMBERTON, ELNORA CARTHAN, and
RHONDA KELSO,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v

GOVERNOR RICK SNYDER, STATE OF
MICHIGAN, MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY, and
MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH
AND HUMAN SERVICES,

Defendants-Appellants.

Supreme Court No. 157335-7

Court of Appeals No. 335555
Consolidated with Docket Nos. 335725
and 335726

Court of Claims No. 16-000017-MM

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendants-Appellants Rick Snyder, State of Michigan (State), the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), and the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ)¹ (collectively State Defendants) appeal by leave granted the January 25, 2018 opinion of the Michigan Court of Appeals. This Court has jurisdiction under MCL 600.215(3) and MCR 7.303(B)(1).

¹ The Department of Environmental Quality is now the Department of Energy, Great Lakes, and the Environment. To avoid confusion, this brief will still use its previous name, or the DEQ, because that is what it was called during the relevant time period.

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

The questions in this case center on the immunity of the state and its agencies to tort claims. Plaintiffs seek to avoid the statutes governing that immunity, the Governmental Torts Liability Act and the Court of Claims Act, by basing their tort claims for personal injuries and property damages on the Michigan Constitution. The following questions are presented:

I.A.1 Did a state custom or policy mandate the alleged violation of Plaintiffs' bodily integrity?

Appellants' answer: No.

Appellees' answer: Yes.

Trial court's answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

I.A.2 Can the Court unilaterally create a damage remedy against the state agencies in this case without violating the separation of powers?

Appellants' answer: No.

Appellees' answer: Yes.

Trial court's answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

I.A.3 Are constitutional tort remedies available against individuals?

Appellants' answer: No.

Appellees' answer: Yes.

Trial court's answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

I.B. Did state agencies take action aimed directly at Plaintiffs' property that harmed Plaintiffs in a way distinct in kind from similarly situated persons giving rise to an inverse condemnation action?

Appellants' answer: No.

Appellees' answer: Yes.

Trial court's answer: Yes.

Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

II.A. Did Plaintiffs' claims accrue more than six months before they filed suit?

Appellants' answer: Yes.

Appellees' answer: No.

Trial court's answer: No.

Court of Appeals' answer: No.

II.B. This Court abrogated the common law discovery rule, but would Plaintiffs' claims be timely even if the Court applied the rule in this case?

- Appellants' answer: No.
- Appellees' answer: Yes.
- Trial court's answer: Yes.
- Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

II.C. The Legislature did not apply the statutory fraudulent concealment provision to the Court of Claim Act's notice provision, but would Plaintiffs' claims be timely even if it did?

- Appellants' answer: No.
- Appellees' answer: Yes.
- Trial court's answer: Yes.
- Court of Appeals' answer: Yes.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES INVOLVED**Const 1963, art 1, § 17**

No person shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself, nor be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Const 1963, art 3, § 2

The powers of government are divided into three branches: legislative, executive and judicial. No person exercising powers of one branch shall exercise powers properly belonging to another branch except as expressly provided in this constitution.

Const 1963, art 10, § 2

Private property shall not be taken for public use without just compensation therefore being first made or secured in a manner prescribed by law.

MCL 691.1407(1)

Except as otherwise provided in this act, a governmental agency is immune from tort liability if the governmental agency is engaged in the exercise or discharge of a governmental function.

MCL 600.6431

(1) No claim may be maintained against the state unless the claimant, within 1 year after such claim has accrued, files in the office of the clerk of the court of claims either a written claim or a written notice of intention to file a claim against the state or any of its departments, commissions, boards, institutions, arms or agencies, stating the time when and the place where such claim arose and in detail the nature of the same and of the items of damage alleged or claimed to have been sustained, which claim or notice shall be signed and verified by the claimant before an officer authorized to administer oaths.

(3) In all actions for property damage or personal injuries, claimant shall file with the clerk of the court of claims a notice of intention to file a claim or the claim itself within 6 months following the happening of the event giving rise to the cause of action.

MCR 2.116

(B)(1) A party may move for dismissal of or judgment on all or part of a claim in accordance with this rule.

(C)(7) The motion may be based on one or more of these grounds . . . immunity granted by law.

(G)(5) The affidavits, together with the pleadings, depositions, admissions, and documentary evidence then filed in the action or submitted by the parties, must be considered by the court when the motion is based on subrule (C)(1)-(7) or (10).

INTRODUCTION

The people of Flint deserve better than the water crisis. It compounded the stress already burdening the City, which is why the State's legislative and executive branches have devoted substantial resources to the City's recovery and rejuvenation. These Plaintiffs, and others, have also invoked the state and federal judicial branches by filing lawsuits. Unlike Plaintiffs' other lawsuits that pursue well-recognized remedies, this suit seeks to dramatically expand existing remedies against the State, and even create a new one based on Michigan's Constitution. This Court has long recognized the Legislature as the proper branch to authorize damage claims against the State and has deferred to that branch to shape Michigan's immunity law. But Plaintiffs want to transfer policymaking in that area from the Legislature to the Court and multiply the circumstances in which claimants can seek relief. These would be deep structural changes that would reshape Michigan law and should be made by the Legislature, if at all, not this Court. The State Defendants make two overarching points:

First, constitutional torts have only been hypothetical possibilities in Michigan up to this point because the circumstances in which they would be an appropriate use of judicial power are very rare. This case is no exception. Allowing tort claimants like Plaintiffs to rely on a vague constitutional doctrine to seek taxpayer funds—even when they have multiple alternative remedies available, and even when they cannot show that it was the State that caused their alleged injuries—would give Michigan courts an unchecked legislative power. Under the lower courts' reasoning, the Legislature cannot check the Judiciary's self-empowerment because anyone alleging a violation of the non-textual-but-implied substantive due process clause of Michigan's Constitution can bypass the Governmental Tort Liability Act, altogether. This Court should not allow this changing of the guard to take place.

Similarly, Michigan's inverse condemnation jurisprudence ensures that the State's day-to-day regulatory functions do not allow persons to flood the State with property devaluation claims. Persons can only pursue claims if the State directly targets their property and they experience damage that is different in kind, rather than degree, to similarly situated persons. The lower courts reshaped the State's immunity. Persons can now seek taxpayer funds for the State's alleged failure to regulate municipal water treatment if the person's metal pipes corrode—a harm experienced to some degree by all owners of metal pipes, which includes virtually all Michigan residents. There is no apparent limitation on when this new holding would apply, which is alarming considering the age of public infrastructure in Michigan. This Court should reverse the lower courts' unprincipled expansion of inverse condemnation claims.

Second, even if Plaintiffs have pleaded both a constitutional tort and inverse condemnation claim against the State in avoidance of its immunity, their claims are filed too late. Their own pleadings confirm that their claims accrued on April 25, 2014, but they did not file suit until January 21, 2016. The lower courts applied a rule this Court abrogated in 2007 to excuse Plaintiffs' untimeliness. Yet even if this Court resurrected the abrogated common law discovery rule and applied it to the Court of Claims Act's notice provision, Plaintiffs' claims are *still* too late because Plaintiffs objectively should have known of a possible reason to file a notice of intent more than six months before they filed suit.

Importantly, this Court does not stand between Plaintiffs and legal relief. Plaintiffs have ample judicial remedies available to them which they are actively pursuing. This Court can correct the misinterpretation below of Michigan's immunity law and dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint without affecting Plaintiffs' ability to seek remedies in their other lawsuits. It should do so.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS

While the issues in this case are mostly legal, the facts are complicated, and the lower courts disregarded many of them. This section is lengthy because the Court cannot adjudicate the legal issues without understanding the State's role in regulating lead in water; why Flint chose to temporarily use the Flint River; how local, state, and federal employees responded to problems with Flint's water; and the actions Plaintiffs took during the approximately 18 months before they filed suit.

I. Controlling lead in drinking water is complex and system-specific.

The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency fought to regulate lead in drinking water using a treatment method, rather than simply setting a maximum contaminant level of “zero” for lead. *American Water Works Ass'n v EPA*, 40 F3d 1266 (1994). That is because there is no one-size-fits-all solution for lead in water systems. Lead enters drinking water from the plumbing and pipes that make up water systems. And “the degree to which plumbing materials leach lead varies greatly with such factors as the age of the material, the temperature of the water, the presence of other chemicals in the water, and the length of time the water is in contact with the leaded material.” *Id.* at 1269. To make things even more complicated, “chemicals added to the drinking water supply in order to reduce the corrosion of [lead] pipes can *increase* the levels of *other* contaminants” in the water system. *Id.* (emphasis added). So systems must first determine if lead is a problem then conduct a study to design the “optimal corrosion control treatment” that is “tailored specifically” for their system. *American Water Works Ass'n v EPA*, 40 F3d at 1269–1271.

The equivalent of the federal Lead and Copper Rule (LCR), 40 CFR 141.80–141.91, was adopted into Michigan's administrative code, Mich Admin Code, R 325.10101 *et seq.* The LCR

established an “action level” for lead in water that is exceeded if more than 10 percent of the tap water samples taken during a designated six-month testing period contained 15 parts per billion (ppb) or more of lead. 40 CFR 141.80(c)(1). A system with optimized treatment can still exceed the action level, so an exceedance does not mean the system is in violation. Instead, it means the system must take additional steps to decrease the public’s exposure to lead, such as public education and the replacement of lead service lines. 40 CFR 141.81, 84–85.

While the DEQ has “primary enforcement responsibility” over local water system operators in Michigan, see 42 USC 300g-2(a), it is *not* a “supplier of water.” MCL 325.1002(t). It does not operate any of the many hundreds of local water systems in Michigan. Nor does the Michigan Safe Drinking Water Act (Act 399) authorize the DEQ to unilaterally seize control of a local water system. In this case, Flint was required to certify to the DEQ that the lead samples it took were taken properly and in accordance with law. 40 CFR 141.86. The “power and control” the DEQ has “over public water supplies and suppliers of water” is “[s]ubject to the limitations contained in” in Act 399. MCL 325.1003. If Flint or another local water system operator fails to carry out its obligations under Act 399, the DEQ can issue administrative orders, MCL 325.1015; seek criminal charges, MCL 325.1021; or file a lawsuit, MCL 325.1022. The DEQ is a regulator, not an operator.

II. The City of Flint decided to temporarily use the Flint River.

The City of Flint previously used its water treatment plant to treat the Flint River as its primary water source until 1967, when it stopped using its plant full-time and purchased already

treated water from the Detroit Water and Sewerage Department (DWSD).² (App Vol 2, p 414a.)³ But the DWSD option became very expensive. Flint estimated that purchasing water from DWSD could cost it as much as \$23 million per year by 2020. (App Vol 2, p 416a.) As a solution, the Genesee County Drain Commission (GCDC), which also obtained its water from DWSD, proposed that several municipalities form their own water system and construct their own pipeline to Lake Huron. (App Vol 2, pp 264a, 414a–415a.) On April 13, 2010, Genesee County approved the formation of the Karengondi Water Authority (KWA), and the GCDC began recruiting other municipalities to join. (App Vol 2, p 415a.)

Flint did not immediately join the KWA. It had its own treatment plant and still used the Flint River as a backup supply. Flint commissioned a study to determine if it was feasible to fully reactivate its plant and reestablish the Flint River as its full-time source. (App Vol 2, pp 264a, 415a, 443a–533a.) The report concluded that “water from the river can be treated to meet current regulations,” and that the treatment plant would need upgrades if it were to treat water long-term on a permanent basis. (App Vol 3, p 452a.) The KWA and Flint River were only some of the options Flint was considering as alternatives to DWSD. (App Vol 2, pp 414a–416a.) While Flint considered its options, it experienced a financial emergency in 2011, and Governor Snyder appointed an emergency manager on December 1, 2011. (App Vol 2, pp 415a–416a.) By November 6, 2012, Flint moved toward joining the KWA. (App Vol 2, p 416a.) Since Flint was under emergency management and joining the KWA would require entering into a contract

² The part of the Detroit Water and Sewerage Department that sold water to Flint changed names during the period relevant to this lawsuit. It is now the Great Lakes Water Authority. For the purposes of consistency and to avoid confusion, this brief will still refer to “DWSD.”

³ The timeline cited to in pages 413a–442a of the appendix is a more legible duplicate of the timeline from the Task Force Report Plaintiffs relied extensively on and which they attached to their first amended complaint. (See App Vol 2, pp 377a–406a.)

with KWA in excess of \$50,000 without a competitive bidding process, the City sent the proposal to the State Treasurer for review. MCL 141.1552(3).

Internally, DEQ staffers suggested on January 23, 2013 that “the city should have concerns of fully utilizing the Flint River (100%)” because of additional treatment requirements and uncertainty about whether the river could adequately provide for Flint’s needs “at 100-year low flow.” (App Vol 2, p 417a.) Indeed, the firm the Department of Treasury hired to perform “an analysis of the water supply options being considered by the City of Flint,” Tucker, Young, Jackson, Tull (TYJT), did not analyze using the Flint River on a full-time basis to provide 100% of Flint’s water. (App Vol 2, pp 265a, 416a; App Vol 3, p 537a.) TYJT completed their report on February 6, 2013. They concluded that after eliminating the options Flint “did not want to pursue,” joining the KWA would be less expensive than staying with DWSD. (App Vol 3, pp 538a, 553a.)

DWSD reached out to Flint to try and keep them as a customer, but on March 25, 2013, the Flint City Council voted 7-1 to leave DWSD and join the KWA. (App Vol 2, p 417a.) On March 28, 2013, Treasurer Dillon emailed Governor Snyder “recommending support for Flint’s decision to join [the] KWA,” noting that the “City’s Emergency Manager, Mayor, and City Council all support this decision” and “[DEQ Director] Dan Wyant also concurs.” (App Vol 2, pp 266a, 417a.) On April 11, 2013, Treasurer Dillon gave approval for Flint to join the KWA on April 15, 2013 if Flint rejected a forthcoming final offer from DWSD. (App Vol 2, p 417a; App Vol 3, p 583a.) Flint rejected that final offer from DWSD, and on April 16, 2013, Flint formally signed an agreement with KWA. (App Vol 2, p 417a.)

Then something unexpected happened. Flint planned to keep purchasing water from DWSD during the interim until the KWA project was completed, but then DWSD abruptly

cancelled its agreement with Flint effective April 17, 2014. (App Vol 2, p 417a.) Flint suddenly had to find a different interim source of water until it could obtain water from KWA, and it chose to use the Flint River during the interim period. (App Vol 2, p 418a.) It promptly hired outside help. Flint hired “the engineering firm Lockwood, Andrews, and Newnam (LAN) to prepare [the] Flint [water treatment plant] for full-time operation.” (App Vol 2, p 418a.) And Flint hired “Rowe Professional Services Company” to complete “an engineering proposal for improvements to the Flint [water treatment plant] that would allow continuous operation of the [plant] utilizing the Flint River in lieu of continuing service from DWSD.” (App Vol 2, p 418a.)

Nearly a year later, Flint’s water treatment plant operator was concerned about meeting DWSD’s April 17, 2014 deadline for ending its agreement with Flint. He emailed DEQ staffers on April 16 and 17, 2014, that he was being pressured by “the management above me” to distribute water even though he did not believe the City was ready. (App Vol 2, pp 267a, 419a.) The DEQ staffers had met with and advised the City of Flint and its engineering consultant during the transition and reviewed and issues relevant permits, but they did not try to override the City’s decision to use the Flint River. (App Vol 2, pp 418a–419a.) As noted, they were regulators, not operators.

On April 25, 2014, Flint made the switch to the Flint River as its primary water source and marked the occasion with a ceremony. (App Vol 2, pp 268a, 419a.) A DEQ water staffer emailed suggested talking points to Brad Wurfel, DEQ’s public information officer, which included the statement that “While [DEQ] is satisfied with the City’s ability to treat water from the Flint River, the Department looks forward to the long term solution of continued operation of the City of Flint Water Treatment Plant using water from the KWA as a more consistent and higher quality source water.” (App Vol 2, p 419a.)

III. The problems Flint residents experienced with the Flint River were highly publicized and Flint, the DEQ, and the U.S. EPA tried to address them.

Plaintiffs “knew almost immediately after the switch to Flint River water that something was not right about this new water supply.” (App Vol 2, pp 226a–227a.) Plaintiffs began complaining to “Defendant State . . . within days” of April 25, 2014 that “the water was cloudy and foul in appearance, taste and odor.” (App Vol 2, p 227a.) By May, at least one resident of Flint had also contacted the U.S. EPA, complaining of a skin rash his doctor thought was caused by Flint River water. (App Vol 2, p 419a.) Discussing the complaint internally, EPA staffers reasoned that “Flint River quality is not great, but there is a surface water treatment plan producing water that is currently meeting [Safe Drinking Water Act] standards.” (App Vol 2, p 419a.) By June 2014, Flint water treatment plant “operators boost[ed] [the] use of lime to address hardness concerns.” (App Vol 2, p 420a.) Also by June 2014, Plaintiffs believed “that the water was making them ill.” (App Vol 2, p 268a.) Plaintiffs then spent “the next eight (8) months” expressing “their concerns about water quality” to “Flint and MDEQ officials . . . in multiple ways, including letters, emails and telephone calls.” (App Vol 2, p 227a.) Plaintiffs also organized “demonstrations on the streets of Flint” that were “well publicized.” (App Vol 2, p 227a.)

As explained above, the LCR requires water systems to determine if lead is a problem, and if it is, perform a study before determining what kind of treatment to use for lead control. 40 CFR 141.81(d). Since the Flint River was a new source, DEQ staffers interpreted the LCR to require Flint to monitor lead levels for two consecutive, six-month periods before determining how to proceed. 40 CFR 141.81(d)(1). On July 1, 2014, Flint began its “first 6-month monitoring period for lead and copper in drinking water.” (App Vol 2, p 420a.)

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