STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

MELISSA MAYS, MICHAEL ADAM MAYS,
JACQUELINE PEMBERTON, KEITH JOHN
PEMBERTON, ELNORA CARTHAN, RHONDA
KELSO, and ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED
Plaintiffs-Appellees,

Supreme Court Nos.: 157335-7,
157340-2

Court of Appeals Nos.: 335555,
335725, 335726

v

Court of Claims No.: 16-000017-
MM

GOVERNOR OF MICHIGAN, STATE OF
MICHIGAN, DEPARTMENT OF
ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY, and DEPARTMENT
OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,
Defendants-Appellants,

and

DARNELL EARLEY and JERRY AMBROSE,
Defendants-Appellants,

and

CITY OF FLINT,
Not Participating.

**PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES' OMNIBUS RESPONSE TO STATE DEFENDANTS'

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

Peterman, supra at 188-9

Thus the *Peterman* court concluded, “any injury to the property of an individual which deprives the owner of the ordinary use of it is equivalent to a taking, and entitles him to compensation. *Id.* at 190. In *Peterman, supra*, the court concluded the defendant’s construction of a boat launch and jetties, which altered the current and thereby deprived plaintiffs’ property of the sand that had previously nourished and replenished it, constituted a taking. Likewise the actions of Defendants as alleged are sufficient to support this claim as Plaintiffs have alleged the damage to the Plaintiffs’ pipes and water infrastructure in their homes and service lines was the “natural and direct result” of the Defendants’ decision to switch to the untreated corrosive and toxic Flint river water.

The State Defendants claim they cannot be held responsible for any inverse condemnation because Plaintiffs did not allege they engaged in any affirmative state actions, claiming that it was the decision of Flint *not* the State to switch water sources. (State Def Brf, pp48-9) The State Defendants claim their actions were simply “regulatory” not direct action and therefore do not support an inverse condemnation action. This is patently false. Plaintiffs allege state officials, including Dillon and Kurtz, developed the plan to use the Flint River water until KWA became operational. (State Def App Vol 2, p266a) Plaintiffs further alleged the Governor authorized the use of the Flint River despite knowledge that it had been rejected as dangerous and unsafe. (State Def App Vol 2, p267a) Thus, Plaintiffs clearly pled affirmative actions by state actors.

The State Defendants further argue *Peterman* is not applicable to this case because the state did not send the water into the homes and did not operate the Flint water system. (State Def Br p47) However, they actively participated in and approved the decision to switch Flint water users from the properly treated and safe water provided by DWSD to the corrosive, toxic water of the Flint River. Their participation in this decision is sufficient whether or not State Defendants personally turned on the spigot to the water which ruined the water service lines of the Plaintiffs.

The State Defendants also assert the allegations against the MDEQ and MDHHS fail to support a claim.⁶⁶ However, Plaintiffs alleged a series of overt actions taken by these Defendants, sufficient to form the basis of an inverse condemnation claim. Plaintiffs alleged that “under the direction” of MDEQ officials, Flint water users began receiving the corrosive and toxic water from the Flint River (State Def App Vol 2, p268a) MDEQ also acted overtly and affirmatively its officials assured Flint residents that the water was safe, (*Id.*, p269a). In addition, state officials from both MDEQ and MDHHS recognized the entire infrastructure of the Flint water system had been corroded by the switch to the Flint River as a water source and affirmatively decided not to notify the public. (*Id.*, pp270-1a) MDEQ officials, including Defendant Wurful, also affirmatively lied to Plaintiffs and other class member telling them the water was safe in July 2015. Plaintiffs also alleged an overt and affirmative decision by State Defendants to conceal the fact that the elevated blood levels in Flint children correlated to the switch to the corrosive Flint water and not warn the public of the danger caused by continuing use of the corrosive and toxic water from the Flint river (State Def App Vol 2,

⁶⁶ In making this argument, the State Defendants mischaracterize the holding of *Hinojosa*, *supra*. Contrary to Defendants’ argument, the Court of Appeals did not conclude that “a failure to act” cannot support an inverse condemnation claim. Rather, the Court found that settled law requires an “overt action” by the state. The claim in *Hinojosa* failed because at most the defendant failed to abate a nuisance, but took no overt actions. Here Plaintiffs have alleged overt actions by all Defendants.

p279a) These actions were all affirmative and overt, supporting the claim against all Defendants for inverse condemnation.⁶⁷

Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint is replete with allegations that the damage to the plumbing infrastructure including pipes, water heaters, and service lines were a direct result of the state actors' decisions to require Flint water users to obtain their water from the Flint River until the KWA pipeline was completed.⁶⁸ It was this Interim Plan which resulted in the damage to their property and diminution in property values. Thus, Defendants did not need to actually physically pump the water into the homes to be the substantial cause of the injury. They made the decision that toxic Flint River water would be pumped into Plaintiffs' homes and thwarted the Flint City Council's attempt to switch back.

B. Plaintiffs alleged a unique injury, not suffered by similarly situated municipal water users.

Next Defendants argue the Court of Appeals erred in finding the actions were directed specifically at Flint water users, not the general public. In *Spiek v DOT*, 456 Mich 331; 572 NW 2d 201 (1998), the Michigan Supreme Court found an inverse condemnation suit exists only where the plaintiff can allege "a unique or special injury, that is, an injury different in kind, not simply degree, from the harm suffered by all persons similarly situated." *Id* at 348. In *Spiek*, the plaintiffs alleged they were entitled to compensation for damage to their property as a result of dust, vibration and fumes caused by the proximity of their property to an interstate freeway. However, the impact on the Spiek

⁶⁷ The state defendants' position that they could only be liable for inverse condemnation if the owned and operated the water system is misguided and not supported by any legal authority (State Defs' Br p49)

⁶⁸ As aptly put by the Court of Appeals: "this is not a situation where plaintiffs have alleged an incidental reduction in property value resulting from some unrelated administrative action by the government. Here, plaintiffs allege deliberate actions taken by defendants that directly led to toxic water being delivered through Flint's own water delivery system *directly into* plaintiffs' water heaters, bathtubs, sinks, and drinking glasses, causing actual, physical damage to plaintiffs' property and affecting plaintiffs' property rights" (emphasis incl.) (State Def App Vol 1, p111a)

property was no different than for those living close to any public highway anywhere in Michigan. This court thus concluded summary disposition was appropriate in *Spiek* because “plaintiffs’ complaint alleges the same type of incidental and consequential harm as is experienced by all persons similarly situated to plaintiffs in that they reside near a public highway.” *Id.* at 332, 350.

In deciding *Spiek*, this Court relied upon and analyzed the U.S. Supreme Court’s holding in *Richards v Washington Terminal Co*, 233 US 546 (1914). There the court distinguished between damage from vibration causing cracks, for which the plaintiff could not recover because all those living near railroad tracks suffer in common, and those who lived near a railroad tunnel which caused smoke, cinders and gasses to be expelled onto the property, for which the plaintiffs could recover damages because it was a unique harm. This case is more akin to the facts in *Richards* than *Spiek*.

Contrary to Defendants’ assertions, the Court of Appeals properly applied the *Spiek* holding here. The Court of Appeals found that the damages suffered by Plaintiffs were different in kind than others similarly situated, i.e. other municipal water users who were not required to receive toxic, contaminated, corrosive and inadequately treated water from the Flint River. (State Def App Vol 1, pp111-2a) Unlike *Spiek* and like *Richards*, Plaintiffs here suffered a unique and special injury not endured by all municipal water users.⁶⁹

Although Defendants claim the Court of Appeals erred by comparing Flint water users to non-Flint water users, they cite no authority for their position. In fact, Flint water users are similarly situated to non-Flint water users, just as in *Spiek*, the plaintiffs were similarly situated to all property owners living near any freeway, not just the freeway at issue in that case. The claim in *Spiek* failed

⁶⁹ Plaintiffs could also be compared to those water users whose communities signed on to the KWA. All those individuals required an interim plan for water until the pipeline was completed. Those outside Flint continued to receive water from DWSD so suffered no injury as a result of State action unlike Flint water users who experienced a loss in property and property values because of the harm caused by the toxic Flint River water. Thus, Plaintiffs have identified a unique injury, not suffered by those similarly situated.

because the damages suffered by the plaintiffs was common to all similarly situated, not just the property owners living near the roadway. Here the damage to Plaintiffs' property was not common to all similarly situated water users. Defendants' decision to force Flint water users to obtain their water from that source uniquely caused Plaintiffs' damages. Thus, *Spiek* was correctly applied here.

Defendants also assert, without any legal authority, that Plaintiffs claim an injury which is only different in degree, not kind, from other similarly situated water users because anyone with metal pipes will suffer some corrosion from water. (State Def Br p50). However, other similarly situated water users did not receive improperly treated toxic and corrosive water from the Flint River which ruined their service lines and water infrastructure throughout their homes. Here, the injury suffered by Plaintiffs was not simply different in degree from other municipal water users. Only Plaintiffs, the Flint water users -- and *not* other municipal water users -- suffered damages to their plumbing infrastructure due to the Defendants' actions. Plaintiffs have thus satisfied the requirement of alleging damages different in kind and degree than others similarly situated.

Lastly, Plaintiffs' inverse condemnation claim is brought *by* "Plaintiff property owners and/or users" for damage done to their property and diminution in value caused by the Defendants' actions to switch the source of Flint's water to the inadequately treated toxic water drawn from the Flint River. (State Def App Vol 2, p287a). Applying settled Michigan law, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court, finding that Plaintiffs "*alleged injuries unique among similarly situated individuals, i.e. municipal water users, caused directly by governmental actions that resulted in exposure of their property to specific harm.*" (emphasis added) (State Def App Vol 1, p112a)

Among the issues that this Court has instructed the parties to address with respect to Plaintiffs' inverse condemnation claim, is the manner in which the class of similarly situated persons should be defined. At this point, no class related discovery has taken place that will inform an evaluation of the contours of the class. At this stage, Plaintiffs respectfully suggest that their current definition is

sufficient. See, e.g., *Communities for Equity v Michigan High Sch Athletic Ass'n*, 192 FRD. 568, 575 n 6 (WD Mich, 1999) (reminding the parties that class definitions may change as the litigation progress); *Schorsch v Hewlett-Packard Co*, 417 F.3d 748, 750 (CA 7, 2005) (“Litigants . . . regularly modify class definitions.”).⁷⁰

Plaintiffs’ allegations satisfy each element necessary to establish a claim for inverse condemnation. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals’ decision finding that Plaintiffs properly pled an inverse condemnation claim.

III. PLAINTIFFS HAVE COMPLIED WITH THE NOTICE PROVISION CONTAINED IN MCL 600.6431(3) OR, ALTERNATIVELY, HAVE BEEN EXCUSED FROM COMPLIANCE WITH THE NOTICE PROVISION BY VIRTUE OF BOTH 1) FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT ENGAGED IN BY DEFENDANTS; AND 2) THE “HARSH AND UNREASONABLE CONSEQUENCES”

MCL 600.6431(3) requires that a claimant in the Court of Claims “shall file with the clerk of the court of claims a notice of intention to file a claim or the claim itself within 6 months following the happening of the event giving rise to the cause of action.” Plaintiffs alleged that their constitutional tort claims accrued, for purposes of providing notice pursuant to MCL 600.6431(3), on October 16, 2015.⁷¹ (State Def App Vol 2, p263a)

A. Genuine issues of material fact exist as to when the putative class’ causes of action accrued.

1. Plaintiffs have pled multiple allegations of actionable tortious conduct that occurred within six months of Plaintiffs’ filing of their complaint.

⁷⁰ Michigan Courts look to federal authorities for guidance on class action questions. See, e.g., *Brenner v Marathon Oil Co*, 222 Mich App 128, 133, 565 NW2d 1 (1997) (“MCR 3.501(E) has not been the subject of apposite analysis by Michigan courts and, in the absence of available Michigan precedents, we turn to federal cases construing the similar federal rule [] for guidance.”) (citing *McCalla v Ellis*, 180 Mich App 372, 377-378, 446 NW2d 904 (1989)).

⁷¹ The date cited in the Complaint, October 16, “2016,” is a typographical error. The date referred to is when Flint reconnected to Detroit water, which was October 16, **2015**.

Plaintiffs filed their initial complaint in this matter on January 15, 2016, which means that as a matter of simple math, any actionable tortious conduct in which Defendants engaged within six months of the filing of plaintiffs' complaint (after July 15, 2016) cannot be barred by the six-month notice provision in MCL 600.6431(3). As set forth in their papers submitted to the Court of Claims,⁷² at least three areas of tortious conduct that fall into this category:

1. the failure to switch Flint's water source between July 15, 2015 and October 8, 2015 to stem the poisonous exposure;
2. the belligerent discrediting of independent reports that began to disclose the truth about the health threats to which Flint's citizenry was exposed (State Def App Vol2, pp276a-78a); and
3. the "scrubbing" of lead levels averaging 11 parts per billion in water (below the EPA trigger of 15 parts per billion) by omitting certain high lead level samples from the average and otherwise understating the real lead levels in water. (State Def App Vol2, p 392a).⁷³

These tortious acts were independently actionable and fell within six months of this lawsuit.

The Court of Appeals held that there are multiple events giving rise to plaintiffs' causes of action."

And that "[t]he Court of Claims did not err by recognizing that plaintiffs' complaint alleges multiple harms resulting from distinct tortious acts rather than a continuing harm resulting from the single tortious act of switching the water source." (State Def App Vol 1, p083a)⁷⁴

⁷² See Plaintiffs' Response to 6/24/2016 State Defendants' Motion for Summary Disposition Under MCR 2.116(C)(4), (C)(7), and (C)(8) filed in the Michigan Court of Claims (Pltf App Vol 2, pp261-62b) Plaintiffs had pled multiple tortious acts, not just one, Plaintiffs argued that **each** new act enabled the timely filing of a complaint in the Court of Claims. Cf. *Bauserman v Unemployment Ins Agency*, 503 Mich 169, n 19. In *Bauserman*, one of the Plaintiffs (Williams) pled that his first garnishment of wages was more than six months prior to the time he filed suit and the Court accordingly found his filing untimely. The Court qualified the ruling in footnote 19 by stating "Moreover, Williams has not argued that each garnishment of his wages 'g[ave] rise to' a new cause of action." As distinct from the treatment of Plaintiff Williams in the *Bauserman* opinion, Plaintiffs in this case **did plead** multiple tortious acts within six months of the filing of their suit.

⁷³ As argued to the Court of Claims, the "scrubbing" of lead reports had been the subject of criminal charges filed by then-Attorney General Bill Schuette. Although those charges have since been voluntarily dismissed without prejudice, the factual issue as to whether the manipulation of lead results by Defendants is actionable remains a contested issue.

⁷⁴ In the lower courts, Defendants attempted to recharacterize the acts in which they engaged within six months of the filing of the complaint as mere "continuing violations" rather than multiple acts giving rise to plaintiffs' causes of action. The Court of Appeals rejected this argument noting that "[T]he fact that some of a plaintiff's claims accrued outside the applicable limitations period does not

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